ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

CERTIFIED QUESTION

FEB 28 2018

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES S.C. SUPREME COURT
DISTRICT COURT FOR SOUTH CAROLINA
Richard Mark Gergel, United States District Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002350

Mark Lawrence, individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situatedPlaintiff/Appellant,

v.

General Panel Corp., a division of Perma "R" Products,
Inc.Defendant/Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

Blake A. McKie, Esq.
J. Rutledge Young III, Esq.
Duffy & Young, LLC
96 Broad Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 720-2044 Fax: (843) 720-2047
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant
Mark Lawrence

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. IS A CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF THE TRIGGER DATE FOR SOUTH CAROLINA'S STATUTE OF REPOSE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a products liability case arising out of the premature failure of the roof on a brand-new home in Awendaw, South Carolina. The Plaintiff, Mark Lawrence, completed his home in December of 2008. In building his new home, Mr. Lawrence used a specialized building product known as Structurally Insulated Panels (“SIPs”). The defendant, General Panel, designed, manufactured, and sold the SIPs that were installed in Mr. Lawrence’s home.

SIPs are a building product that is intended to be a substitute for traditional home framing and insulation. A number of different manufacturers design and build SIPs in a factory setting by sandwiching an insulating foam core between two structural facings, typically oriented strand board. The resulting SIPs are typically trimmed to a homeowner's desired design specifications for a particular application, like the wall or roof of a specific house. The SIPs are then delivered to the homeowner and installed in lieu of traditional wood framing and insulation. The SIPs provide structural framing and insulation. In concept, SIPs provide a building system that is strong, energy efficient and cost effective.

As an integral part of its product, General Panel provides instructions for the proper installation of its SIPs system. Unlike traditional framing methods, the success of General Panel’s system is highly dependent upon creating an airtight building envelope at the original construction, particularly at the joints or seams between the SIPs. If the building envelope is not completely airtight, condensation will occur at the seams of the SIPs and the entire system will prematurely rot and ultimately fail. Because SIPs are also structural, failure of the SIPs system leads to structural failure of the home.

After construction is complete, the SIPs system is typically concealed by the home's finishes. As such, a homeowner may not discover defects in the SIPs system until some damage to the home manifests itself. If a SIPs system is slowly rotting away because of improper original installation, a homeowner might not discover the defect in the SIPs until many years after the SIPs system was first installed.

South Carolina's statute of repose for new construction specifically limits a homeowner's ability to bring claims arising out of "defective or unsafe condition of an improvement to real property" to eight years from the date of "substantial completion" of the new construction. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-640 (Supp. 2005). In this case, Mark Lawrence first discovered that the SIPs system in his home was defective and unsafe almost eight years after Charleston County issued a certificate of occupancy for his home. The question is whether the certificate of occupancy provides prima facie evidence of "substantial completion" of Mr. Lawrence's home.

Mr. Lawrence filed suit for products liability against General Panel on December 8, 2016. General Panel removed the case to federal court on March 3, 2017 based upon diversity jurisdiction. Discovery began and General Panel moved for summary judgment based on an argument that Mr. Lawrence's claims are time-barred by the statute of repose because he filed suit more than eight years after "substantial completion" of the installation of General Panel's SIPs.

In the context of addressing General Panel's motion for summary judgment, United States District Judge Richard Gergel certified the question of whether the certificate of occupancy provides evidence of the "trigger" date for South Carolina's statute of repose or whether the earlier completion of the installation of the SIPs system

provided the trigger date for measuring the statute of repose.¹ Judge Gergel certified the question because of the apparent conflict between this Court's decision in *Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, 347 S.C. 416, 556 S.E.2d 377 (2001), interpreting the former version of South Carolina's statute of repose, and the General Assembly's subsequent 2005 amendment of the statute of repose for new construction.

ARGUMENT

I. A CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY IS EVIDENCE OF "SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION" AS THAT TERM IS USED BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA STATUTE OF REPOSE.

Judge Gergel has presented this Court with a straightforward question of statutory interpretation. The Supreme Court's primary function in interpreting a statute is to ascertain the intention of the legislature. *Anders v. South Carolina Parole and Community Corrections Board*, 279 S.C. 206, 305 S.E.2d 229 (1983). This Court has previously held that "[a] cardinal rule of statutory construction is that legislative intent prevails." *Folk v. Thomas*, 344 S.C. 77, 543 S.E.2d 556 (2001) (citing *Joint Legislative Comm. v. Huff, et al.*, 320 S.C. 241, 464 S.E.2d 324 (1995)); see also *Glover by Cauthen v. Suitt Constr. Co.*, 318 S.C. 465, 458 S.E.2d 535 (1995) (holding that the literal and ordinary meaning of a statute applies where the terms are clear and unambiguous). When this Court interprets statutes, "[a] statutory provision should be given a reasonable and practical construction consistent with the purpose and policy expressed in the statute." *Hay v. South Carolina Tax Com.*, 273 S.C. 269, 273, 255 S.E.2d 837, 840 (1979).

¹ For purposes of resolving the certified question, Judge Gergel limited the question and did not provide any facts about the underlying case or provide copies of any of the pleadings, motions, or orders in the underlying case. See S.C. App. Ct. Rule 244(b).

This Court has previously recognized that the General Assembly has the power to revise and modify statutes. "If it is advisable that the statute be changed, the solution lies within the province of the Legislature. We have no right to legislate the provision from the statute or to modify its application under the guise of judicial interpretation." *Davis v. Doe*, 285 S.C. 538, 331 S.E.2d 352, 354 (1985) quoting *Coker v. Nationwide Insurance Company*, 251 S.C. 175, 182, 161 S.E.2d 175, 178 (1968). When the General Assembly modifies existing statutes, the General Assembly is presumptively aware of the Supreme Court's interpretations of its statutes and is utilizing its inherent power to change the law. See *Wigfall v. Tideland Utils.*, 354 S.C. 100, 580 S.E.2d 100 (2003) (explaining that the General Assembly is presumed to be aware of court precedent).

- a. **In 2005, the General Assembly amended the statute of repose to provide that certificates of occupancy would thereafter serve as prima facie evidence of "substantial completion."**

South Carolina's old version of the statute of repose made no reference to certificates of occupancy. In relevant part, South Carolina's old statute of repose provided:

No actions to recover damages based upon or arising out of the defective or unsafe condition of an improvement to real property may be brought more than thirteen years after substantial completion of such an improvement.

See S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-640 (Supp. 2000)

"Substantial completion" was defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-630 (Supp. 2000) as "that degree of completion of a project, improvement, or a specified area or portion thereof . . . upon attainment of which the owner can use the same for the purpose for which it was intended" See S.C. Code Ann. §15-3-630 (Supp. 2000). Questions soon followed about how to determine the date of "substantial completion" of a

construction project under the language of the statute. *See Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, 347 S.C. 416, 556 S.E.2d 377 (2001). Opposing parties interpreted the old version of the statute of repose differently. Owners argued that “substantial completion” occurred when the county issued a certificate of occupancy. Vendors, subcontractors, and building trades argued that “substantial completion” occurred when they finished their specific work. In 2001, this Court issued *Ocean Winds* to resolve the conflict.

Ocean Winds was a construction defect case that included products liability claims against Andersen Windows. The Plaintiff was the developer of a condominium complex on Seabrook Island. The facts pertaining to the statute of repose were not disputed. All of Andersen’s windows were fully installed in the condominiums on or before December 2, 1986. Charleston County issued certificates of occupancy for the condominiums between June 9, 1987 and May 6, 1991. The developer filed suit against Andersen Windows in February of 2000 – more than 13 years after the completion of the installation of the windows, but less than 13 years after the county had issued the certificates of occupancy.

At that time, South Carolina’s statute of repose for new construction was 13 years. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (Supp. 2000). On those facts, this Court ruled that the 13-year statute of repose for new construction was triggered at the time of completion of the windows. This Court analyzed the statute of repose and the policies behind it. This Court reasoned that the certificates of occupancy for the project as a whole were irrelevant to the analysis. Specifically, this Court held that “under the facts of this case “substantial completion of such improvement” occurred upon substantial completion of

the installation of the windows and not upon substantial completion of the project as a whole, nor on the date of issuance of certificates of occupancy.” *Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, 347 S.C. 416, 422, 556 S.E.2d 377, 380 (2001). *Ocean Winds* presented a novel set of facts at the time, and this Court expressly limited its holding in *Ocean Winds* to the facts of that case. *Id.*

In the wake of *Ocean Winds*, the General Assembly amended the statute of repose in 2005 to specifically provide that certificates of occupancy would be prima facie evidence of “substantial completion,” under the statute. Unlike the old version of statute of repose, the revised, 2005 version of the statute of repose includes new language that provides:

For any improvement to real property, a certificate of occupancy issued by a county or municipality, in the case of new construction or completion of a final inspection by the responsible building official in the case of improvements to existing improvements, shall constitute proof of substantial completion of the improvement under the provisions of S.C Code Ann. § Section 15-3-630, unless the contractor and owner, by written agreement, establish a different date of substantial completion. S.C Code Ann. § 15-3-640(9) (Supp. 2005) (emphasis added).

By adding certificates of occupancy to the plain language of the statute, the General Assembly changed the law as interpreted by this Court in *Ocean Winds*. The new language included in the 2005 amendment clarified that the certificate of occupancy would ordinarily be prima facie evidence of “substantial completion” as that term is used in the statute of repose. In its notes to the 2005 Amendments, the General Assembly made it clear that the “paragraph relating to a certificate of occupancy as proof of substantial completion of an improvement project” was an intentional change to the prior version of the statute that this Court had interpreted in 2001. *See* 2005 S.C. Acts 27, 2005 S.C. H.B. 3008, 2005 S.C. R. 23. The General Assembly's addition of specific

mandatory language referencing certificates of occupancy is compelling evidence that the General Assembly intended for a certificate of occupancy to be prima facie evidence of "substantial completion" as that term is used in the statute of repose for new construction.² See e.g., *Collins v. Doe*, 352 S.C. 462, 574 S.E.2d 739 (2002) (the use of "shall" in a statute reflects mandatory intent).

b. Other courts have relied upon the certificate of occupancy as prima facie evidence of "substantial completion" as that term is used by statutes of repose.

In a recent federal case in South Carolina, United States District Judge David Norton alluded to the same question that was certified to this Court by Judge Gergel. See *Belfor USA Grp., Inc. v. Banks*, No. 2:15-cv-01818-DCN, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91483 (D.S.C. 2016). In the case decided by Judge Norton, an owner contracted with a contractor to perform restoration work on the owner's home that had been partially destroyed by a fire. The contractor argued that the owner's receipt of a certificate of occupancy entitled the contractor to recover for its substantial performance on the completion" as that term is used by the statute of repose. In ruling in favor of the owner, Judge Norton opined that while the certificate of occupancy was not proof of substantial

² Shortly after the amending of the statute, an article in *South Carolina Lawyer* noted that "The legislature amended S.C. Code § 15-3-640 to lower the statute of repose for construction defects from 13 years to eight years: "substantial completion may be determined by either (1) written agreement between the contractor and owner; (2) the certificate of occupancy in the case of new construction; or (3) the final inspection by the appropriate building official in the case of improvements to existing improvements." John C. Moylan, *After The Dust Clears: Changes In S.C. Tort Law*, 17 S. Carolina Lawyer 36 (2005).

performance on a contract, it was “proof of substantial completion to trigger the statute of repose.” *See Belfor USA Grp., Inc. v. Banks*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91483 at 26.

Other jurisdictions with statutes of repose similar to South Carolina's have also ruled that the certificate of occupancy or its equivalent is prima facie evidence of “substantial completion” under their respective statutes of repose. For example, Wyoming's statute of repose for new construction provides that: “substantial completion” means the degree of completion at which the owner can utilize the improvement for the purpose for which it was intended. *See Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 1-3-110* (2013). Further, the statute states:

Unless the parties to the contract agree otherwise, no action to recover damages, whether in tort, contract, indemnity or otherwise, shall be brought more than ten (10) years after substantial completion of an improvement to real property...
See Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 1-3-111 (2013).

Wyoming's Supreme Court ruled that “substantial completion” occurs on the date when a certificate of occupancy is issued.

Horning v. Penrose Plumbing & Heating, Inc. addressed the question of whether a certificate of occupancy provided prima facie evidence of substantial completion under Wyoming's statute of repose. The case turned on how to calculate the trigger date for Wyoming's statute of repose. Wyoming's Supreme Court ruled the statute of repose is not triggered by the date on which the subcontractor's HVAC work was completed, but rather was triggered by the date of the home's certificate of occupancy. *See Horning v. Penrose Plumbing & Heating, Inc.*, 2014 Wyo. 133, 336 P.3d 151 (2014); *see also Georgetown Coll. v. Madden*, 505 F. Supp. 557 (D. Md. 1980) (holding that occupancy by the owner, the date of complete occupancy by the owner, or the date certificates of

occupancy are issued by the relevant housing administration are deemed relevant factors where the construction contract is otherwise silent as to when the contract is substantially completed); *See also Great N. Ins. Co. v. Architectural Env'ts, Inc.*, No. 05-12356-NMG, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76003 (D. Mass. 2007) (holding that statute of repose begins to run when a certificate of occupancy is issued). South Carolina's current version of the statute of repose leads to the same conclusion.

c. Allowing certificates of occupancy to be prima facie evidence of the trigger date for the statute of repose will make for better law in South Carolina, and will not defeat the purpose of the statute of repose.

Unlike statutes of limitation which require plaintiffs to bring claims within a certain period of time after discovery of their claims, statutes of repose prohibit plaintiffs from bringing claims after a certain deadline, regardless of whether the plaintiff has ever discovered that they have a claim. *See Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J.H. Gayle Constr. Co.*, 368 S.C. 137, 628 S.E.2d 38 (2006). Statutes of repose extinguish liability strictly for policy reasons. *See Nash v. Tindall Corp.*, 375 S.C. 36, 650 S.E.2d 81 (Ct. App. 2007), *quoting Langley v. Pierce*, 313 S.C. 401, 438 S.E.2d 242 (1993). South Carolina's statute of repose for new construction reflects just such a policy decision. *See Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, 347 S.C. 416, 556 S.E.2d 377 (2001). The 2005 amendments to the South Carolina statute of repose maintain the same policy protections for defendants. The 2005 amendments to the statute of repose continue to reflect the legislature's intent to permanently terminate the liability of defendants after a fixed period of time. By amending the statute, the General Assembly has used the certificate of occupancy as a clear mark for the triggering of the statute of repose. The 2005 amendment greatly reduces the need for a factually intensive and case-by-case analysis of

the trigger date. The use of the certificate of occupancy as prima facie evidence of the trigger date for the statute of repose for new construction will not disrupt the original policy goals of the statute of repose and provides more clarity for litigants and judges who must apply the law. If the parties fail to contract for an earlier trigger date, the General Assembly intended for the certificate of occupancy to provide the default trigger date.

CONCLUSION

The 2005 amendment to South Carolina's statute of repose is straightforward and plain. The General Assembly intends for certificates of occupancy to be prima facie evidence of "substantial completion" as that term is used by the statute of repose. This Court should answer Judge Gergel's question accordingly.



Blake A. McKie, Esq.
J. Rutledge Young, III, Esq.
Duffy & Young, LLC
96 Broad Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 720-2044 Fax: (843) 720-2047
*Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant Mark
Lawrence*

February 27, 2018
Charleston, South Carolina

RECEIVED

FEB 28 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

CERTIFIED QUESTION

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR SOUTH CAROLINA

Richard Mark Gergel, United States District Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002350

Mark Lawrence, individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated..... Plaintiff,

v.

General Panel Corp., a division of Perma "R" Products,
Inc. Defendant.