THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APR 09 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE UNITED STATES  
DISTRICT COURT FOR SOUTH CAROLINA  
Richland Mark Gergel, United States District Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002350

Mark Lawrence, individually and on behalf of all others  
similarly situated .....Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

General Panel Corp., a division of Perma "R" Products, Inc. ....Defendant/Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT

Everett A. Kendall, II, Esquire  
Richard E. McLawhorn, Esquire  
Sweeny Wingate & Barrow, P.A.  
Post Office Box 12129  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Tel: (803) 256-2233

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

## ARGUMENT

The answer to the Certified Question is: “No.” The 2005 amendment to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (1976) did not change the definition of “substantial completion” contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-630 (1976) and did not alter the analysis or public policy justifications for this Court’s prior decision in *Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, 347 S.C. 416, 556 S.E.2d 377 (2001).

### **I. The Definition of “Substantial Completion” was not Changed by 2005 South Carolina Law Act 27 (H.B. 3008).**

South Carolina Code § 15-3-640 provides that actions against manufacturers of components used in the construction of real property must be filed within eight years of the “substantial completion of the improvement.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-640 (1976) (*hereinafter* “§ 15-3-640”). “Substantial completion” is defined in the previous section as:

[T]hat degree of completion of a project, improvement, or a specified area or portion thereof (in accordance with the contract documents, as modified by any change orders agreed to by the parties) upon attainment of which the owner can use the same for the purpose for which it was intended; the date of substantial completion may be established by written agreement between the contractor and owner.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-630 (1976) (*hereinafter* “§ 15-3-630”). In 2005, the South Carolina General Assembly amended § 15-3-640 by reducing the limitations period from thirteen years to eight years and adding the following language:

For any improvement to real property, a certificate of occupancy issued by a county or municipality, in the case of new construction or completion of a final inspection by the responsible building official in the case of improvements to existing improvements, shall constitute proof of substantial completion of the improvement under the provisions of Section 15-3-630, unless the contractor and owner, by written agreement, establish a different date of substantial completion.

2005 S.C. Laws Act 27 (H.B. 3008) § 2. The definition of “substantial completion” contained in § 15-3-630 has remained unchanged since the statute was first adopted. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-630 (1976).

Proper construction and interpretation of this additional language points to the conclusion that the legislature intended to provide a means of proof consistent with the definitional section in SC Code § 15-3-630, not to supersede or replace it. Reading § 15-3-640 to mean that a certificate of occupancy is a replacement definition for “substantial completion” would render the § 15-3-630 definition of “substantial completion” null and void, in violation of established principles of statutory construction.

In *Capco of Summerville v. J.H. Gayle Const. Co., Inc.*, the Supreme Court was confronted with a similar question of whether § 15-3-640 was repealed by implication by the passage of the Contribution Act (which contains a one-year limitation period). 368, S.C. 137, 628 S.E.2d 38 (2006). Construing these two seemingly inconsistent provisions, the Court held that:

Repeal by implication is disfavored, and is only found when two statutes are incapable of any reasonable reconciliation. Moreover, the repugnancy must be plain, and if the two provisions can be construed so that both can stand, a court shall so construe them. Where there is one statute addressing an issue in general terms and another statute dealing with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more specific statute will be considered an exception to, or a qualifier, of, the general statute and given such effect.

*Capco of Summerville*, 368 S.C. at 141-42; 628 S.E.2d at 41 (citations omitted). The Court found that the two statutes did not irreconcilably conflict. *Id.* at 143, 628 S.E.2d at 41.

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The best evidence of legislative intent is the text of the statute. *Wade v. State*, 348 S.C. 255, 259, 559 S.E.2d 843, 844 (2002). All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must

prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute. *Broadhurst v. City of Myrtle Beach Election Comm'n*, 342 S.C. 373, 380, 537 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000). Statutes, as a whole, must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation, consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers. *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 624, 503 S.E.2d 471, 478 (1998). An appellate court must reject an interpretation of a statute that would lead to an absurd result the legislature could not have intended. *Ranucci v. Crain*, 409 S.C. 493, 500-501, 763 S.E.2d 189, 192-93 (2014); *Lancaster Cnty. Bar Ass'n v. S.C. Comm'n on Indigent Def.*, 380 S.C. 219, 222, 670 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008).

It is axiomatic that “words in a statute must be construed in context,” and “the meaning of particular terms in a statute may be ascertained by reference to words associated with them in the statute.” *Eagle Container Co., LLC v. County of Newberry*, 379 S.C. 564, 570, 666 S.E.2d 892, 895 (2008) (citing *Mut. Church Ins. Co. v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass'n*, 306 S.C. 339, 342, 412 S.E.2d 377, 379 (1991)). Further, statutes must be read as a whole and sections which are part of the same general statutory scheme must be construed together and each given effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction. *Hudson ex rel. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr.*, 407 S.C. 112, 122-23, 754 S.E.2d 486, 492-93 (2014); *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper County*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006); *Higgins v. State*, 307 S.C. 446, 415 S.E.2d 799 (1992). This Court should not concentrate on isolated phrases within a statute. *S.C. State Ports Auth.*, 368 S.C. at 398, 629 S.E.2d at 629. Instead, the Court reads a statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose. *State v. Sweat*, 379 S.C. 367, 376, 665 S.E.2d 645, 650 (Ct.App.2008), *aff'd*, 386 S.C. 339, 688 S.E.2d 569 (2010); *Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 124, 127-8, 750 S.E.2d 61, 63 (2013). Thus, the Court must read the

statute so “that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous,” *Sweat*, at 377, 665 S.E.2d at 651, for “[t]he General Assembly obviously intended [the statute] to have some efficacy, or the legislature would not have enacted it into law” *id.* at 382, 665 S.E.2d at 654; *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011). The Court must presume in construing a statute that the Legislature did not intend to perform a futile thing. *Steinke v. S.C. Dept. of Lab., Licensing and Reg.*, 336 S.C. 373, 396, 520 S.E.2d 142, 154 (1999). *See, Gaffney v. Mallory*, 186 S.C. 337, 195 S.E. 840 (1938). The Court is constrained to avoid a construction that would read a provision out of a statute, and must reconcile conflicts if possible. *Ballard v. Ballard*, 314 S.C. 40, 443 S.E.2d 802 (1994).

Reading the amended language of § 15-3-640 as the definition of “substantial completion” creates a manifest conflict with the definition contained in § 15-3-630. The two definitions describe different triggers: Section 15-3-630 is based on beneficial use, while § 15-3-640 is based on an administrative act. Section 15-3-630 looks at the opportunity of the owner, while § 15-3-640 looks to the efficiency of a government official. As a result of the different triggers, the resulting date can differ by days, months, or as in this case, years, and § 15-3-640 should not be construed to permit this inconsistency.

Reading the amended § 15-3-640 by itself, without § 15-3-630, ignores the greater context of the statutory scheme and leads to a construction which nullifies the definitions in § 15-3-630. Plaintiff asks this court to construe the language in § 15-3-640 specifying that a certificate of occupancy constitutes substantial completion as the sole indicator of “substantial completion” apart from contractual modification. This construction completely ignores the definitional language in § 15-3-630 and writes the definition in this section out of the statutory scheme entirely.

Accepting this construction would be improper. If the legislature desired for the amendment to § 15-3-640 to supersede the definitional language in § 15-3-630, it easily could have chosen to amend that section and change the definitional language. Instead, it chose to add the language in a different section, and thus it must be read in context.

While Plaintiff's conclusion of the effect of the amendment should be rejected, his actual "Question Presented"<sup>1</sup> can actually be answered in the affirmative: Because of the amendment, a certificate of occupancy is *prima facie* evidence<sup>2</sup> of the trigger date for the Statute. The wording of the amendment indicates that the certificate of occupancy provides "proof" of substantial completion. In other words, it is evidence that substantial completion has occurred, not that it is substantial completion in and of itself. The proper construction of § 15-3-640 results in establishing an end-date to the set of possible trigger dates after the period of beneficial use has begun.

The added language in § 15-3-640 applies if a question were to arise concerning whether a part of a project was substantially completed *after* the certificate of occupancy is issued. Here, § 15-3-640 clearly precludes starting the clock on the statute of repose at any point after the certificate of occupancy is issued, apart from a contractual agreement otherwise. Thus, construed as a whole, in context, and in such a way as to avoid contradictions or reading out whole sections of the Statute, the definition of "substantial completion" in § 15-3-630 provides the very earliest date from which "substantial completion" may be calculated, and the clarifying language in § 15-

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiff's Brief at p. 1.

<sup>2</sup> Black's Law Dictionary defines "*prima facie* evidence" as: "Evidence good and sufficient on its face. Such evidence as, in the judgment of the law, is sufficient to establish a given fact, . . . which if not rebutted or contradicted, will remain sufficient." Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

3-640 amendment provides the very latest date from which substantial completion may be calculated.

**II. The Language Added by Amendment to § 15-3-640 in 2005 Does not Displace the Court's Ruling in *Ocean Winds*, Which Remains Controlling.**

The amendments to § 15-3-640 do not conflict this Court's ruling in *Ocean Winds Corp. of Johns Island v. Lane*, supra. In that case, this Court found that "substantial completion" for installation of windows occurred upon substantial completion of the installation of those windows and not upon substantial completion of the project as a whole or issuance of a certificate of occupancy. *Ocean Winds*, supra. The Certified Question before this Court anticipates a conflict where none should exist.<sup>3</sup>

Contrary to Plaintiff's position, the mere fact that § 15-3-640 was amended four years after the opinion of this Court, is not dispositive of the analysis. The natural and safe guide to legislative intent in passing a statute is the statutory and judicial status of the subject at time of enactment. *Branchville Motor Co. v. Adden*, 158 S.C. 90, 155 S.E. 277 (1930). The General Assembly is presumed to be aware of this Court's interpretation of a statute, and where that statute has been amended, but no change has been made that affects the Court's interpretation, the legislature's

---

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiff incorrectly suggests that United States District Court Judge Norton has ruled on this issue. See Plaintiff's Brief at p. 8. To the contrary, the court in *Belfor*, determined that the language from S.C. Code Ann. 15-3-640 *did not* apply to determining when a contractor was entitled to payment for completion of work. The court stated that:

[t]he statute does not, however, set forth that a contractor is deemed to have substantially complied with the terms of a contract. The statute outlines only that a certificate of occupancy shall constitute proof of substantial completion to trigger the statute of repose. Therefore, Belfor's argument that the certificate of occupancy proves that it substantially complied with the contract lacks merit.

*Belfor USA Grp., Inc. v. Banks*, No. 2:15-CV-01818-DCN, 2016 WL 3753218, 9 (D.S.C. dated July 14, 2016).

inaction is evidence that the interpretation is correct. *State v. Sawyer*, 409 S.C. 475, 481, 763 S.E.2d 183, 186 (2014); *McLeod v. Starnes*, 396 S.C. 647, 723 S.E.2d 198 (2012); *Wigfall v. Tideland Utils., Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003). Here, there is no clear intent to change existing case law.

First, the amendment does not directly address the holding of existing law. In *Ocean Winds*, the plaintiffs sued for damages resulting from the installation of defective windows manufactured and installed by the defendant during construction of a condominium project. 556 S.E.2d at 418. There, like here, the Court was presented with a Certified Question concerning the triggering of § 15-3-640 for a material supplier. The issue before the Court was whether the § 15-3-640 statute of repose began to run for Andersen Windows when the window installation was substantially complete, or when the entire project was substantially completed. *Id.* It is important to note that the consideration was not as to the *meaning* of substantial completion, rather *which* substantial completion controlled. The Court relied heavily on the language in the § 15-3-630 that created a trigger when a “*specified area or portion thereof*” was substantially completed. *Id.* at 419 (quoting S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-630 (1976) (emphasis in original)). That language was not the subject of the 2005 amendment.

The legislature must be assumed to have been aware of the existing case law interpreting these provisions, and took no steps to explicitly contradict this Court’s ruling in *Ocean Winds*. Had the legislature intended to overrule *Ocean Winds*, it could have amended the definitional section in § 15-3-630. This certainly would have overruled *Ocean Winds*. The legislature did not do this, however. Instead, it passed an amendment clarifying that when a specific event occurred -- the issuance of a certificate of occupancy -- proof of the § 15-3-630 definition of “substantial

completion” was satisfied. Thus, the 2005 amendment does not replace the definitional language of § 15-3-630 or the case law interpreting that definitional language.

Secondly, the 2005 amendments to § 15-3-640 actually augment the *Ocean Winds* ruling. This is because in *Ocean Winds*, the Court ruled on the date from which “substantial completion” could be calculated as to a supplier or subcontractor; *i.e.*, that substantial completion of a phase of a project could be completed prior to substantial completion of a whole project. The 2005 amendment, by contrast, clarified the date from which “substantial completion” could be calculated for the improvement as a whole; *i.e.*, that substantial completion of a project is automatically inferred from issuance of a certificate of occupancy. There is no contradiction here. This court should interpret the amended § 15-3-640 in accordance with existing case law, as the legislature must be assumed to be aware of that case law and did not contradict it with the passage of the 2005 amendments.

Finally, interpreting § 15-3-630 and § 15-3-640 as a whole to allow different trigger dates for different portions of a single project is necessary and consistent. As noted above, the definition of substantial completion contains the language “specified area or portion thereof.” § 15-3-630(b). In *Holly Woods Association of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, the Court of Appeals, while not specifically citing this language, recognized the concept that a project is made up many parts that are completed at different times, thus creating different trigger dates. 392 S.C. 172, 708 S.E.2d 787 (2011). In that case, the Court of Appeals held that:

[T]he statute of repose would have barred the Association from suing for construction problems relating to the infrastructure of buildings one through eight (completed more than 13 years prior to the suit) ... However, we hold that the statute of repose did not bar the Association from bringing suit in 2005 because it related to the common areas of the development built in 1996 or later (less than 13 years prior to suit).

*Id.* at 183, 708 S.E.2d at 793 (parentheticals supplied). Plaintiff's proposed interpretation erases this important nuance.

**III. The Legislative Intent Behind Amending § 15-3-640 was to Tighten the Statute of Repose and Promote the Policy Objective of Protecting Builders from Unending Exposure to Suit, not to Expand the Window as the Plaintiff is Asking.**

Plaintiff's preferred interpretation of the 2005 amendments to § 15-3-640 would undermine the public policy of behind both having a statute of repose generally, as well as the 2005 amendments specifically. This Court has acknowledged the importance of protecting statutes of repose as enacted by the legislature. "A statute of repose creates a substantive right in those protected to be free from liability after a legislatively-determined period of time." *Langley v. Pierce*, 313 S.C. 401, 404, 438 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1993) (quoting *First United Methodist Church v. U.S. Gypsum Co.*, 882 F.2d 862, 866 (4th Cir.1989), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1070, 110 S.Ct. 1113 (1990)). A statute of repose is typically an absolute time limit beyond which liability no longer exists and is not tolled for any reason because to do so would upset the economic balance struck by the legislative body. *Capco of Summerville*, 368 S.C. at 142, 628 S.E.2d at 41. Society benefits when claims and causes are laid to rest after having been viable for reasonable time. *Langley*, supra at 243. When causes of action are extinguished after such time, society generally may continue its business and personal relationships in peace, without worry that some cause of action may arise to haunt it because of some long-forgotten act or omission. *Id.* at 244. This is not only for the convenience of society but also due to necessity, because at that point, society is secure and stable. *Id.*

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